Appeal No. 23-CF-331



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 02/07/2024 04:59 PM Filed 02/07/2024 04:59 PM

GREGOR'	Y PHILLIP WOODS,
	Appellant,
	V.
UNITED S	STATES OF AMERICA,
	Appellee.
	Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division
	BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM SHILPA S. SATOSKAR * FLEMING TERRELL

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 Indiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20004 Telephone: (202) 628-1200

*Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Gregory Wood was convicted of tampering with physical evidence, D.C.

Code § 22-723, a felony, for stomping on a plastic baggie of suspected cocaine that fell from his waistband during a search incident to arrest. Arresting officers immediately retrieved the unchanged baggie of suspected cocaine from the ground. Was evidence of the stomp sufficient to prove Mr. Woods "alter[ed]" physical evidence within the meaning of the tampering statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

Gregory Woods was indicted for unlawful distribution of cocaine while armed, D.C. Code §§ 48-904.01(a)(1), 22-4502; unlawful possession with intent to distribute (PWID) cocaine while armed, D.C. Code §§ 48-904.01(a)(1), 22-4502; PWID synthetic cannabinoid while armed, D.C. Code §§ 48-904.01(a)(1), 22-4502; three counts of possession of a firearm during a crime of violence or dangerous offense (PFCV) predicated on the drug distribution offenses, D.C. Code § 22-4504(b); unlawful possession of a firearm by a felon, D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1); unlawful possession of a firearm by one previously convicted of an intrafamily offense, D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(6); carrying a pistol without a license, D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(2); possession of an unregistered firearm, D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a); unlawful possession of ammunition, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(a)(3); tampering with physical evidence, D.C. Code § 22-723; unlawful possession of drug paraphernalia, D.C. Code § 48-1103(a); possession of an open container of alcohol in a vehicle (POCA), D.C. Code § 25-1001(a)(2); and driving without a

permit, D.C. Code § 50-1401.01(d). R.18.¹ The government later elected to dismiss the PFCV, POCA and no-permit charges, and to proceed on an attempt theory for the drug distribution and possession charges (2/1/23 at 176-77).

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable Jason Park on February 1, 2023. At the close of the government's case, the defense moved for judgment of acquittal (MJOA) on all counts (2/8/23 at 176-77). The trial court granted the motion as to the PWID-synthetic cannabinoid and possession of drug paraphernalia charges (2/8/23 at 186-88). The defense unsuccessfully renewed its MJOA on the remaining charges after the close of all evidence (2/10/23 at 16-18). On February 10, 2023, the jury returned its verdict acquitting Mr. Woods of all but the tampering charge, and one count of attempted unlawful possession of a controlled substance as a lesser-included offense of the attempted PWID cocaine charge. R.106; 2/10/23 at 19-21.

On March 30, 2023, the court imposed a sentence of time served, plus a \$50 Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act (VVCA) payment on the misdemeanor attempted possession charge and a \$100 VVCA payment on the felony tampering charge. R.111. Mr. Woods filed a timely notice of appeal on April 19, 2023. R.112. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

¹ All citations to "R.*" refer to the number assigned to a particular trial court filing by the Appeals Coordinator in amassing the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Woods was arrested and charged with various drug distribution and weapons offenses after he was identified by an undercover officer as the person who sold him "crack" from a parked car during a police "buy bust operation" on December 4, 2019. The jury ultimately discredited the undercover officer's identification, acquitting Mr. Woods of all charges for the drugs, firearm and ammunition police found inside the car where he had been sitting. R.106. Mr. Woods was convicted of the two remaining charges: attempted simple possession of a controlled substance, a misdemeanor, for the 1.2 grams of white, rock-like substance contained within a plastic baggie that fell from his waistband as police were searching him; and tampering with physical evidence, a felony, for stomping on that baggie before police moved him back and recovered the baggie of white, rock-like substance from the ground. *Id.* Mr. Woods argues on appeal that the evidence of stomping was insufficient to prove he "alter[ed]" physical evidence as required for conviction under the tampering statute. D.C. Code § 22-723.

The Buy Bust Operation

Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) Detective Ryan Tran testified that he served on the arrest team for a "buy bust operation" carried out on the evening of December 4, 2019, in the parking lot of a Valero gas station at 1801 West Virginia Avenue, NE (2/7/23 at 37, 40). Tran explained that a buy bust operation involves an undercover team purchasing drugs from a street dealer, then radioing a "lookout" description of the dealer to a uniformed arrest team waiting just out of

sight (2/7/23 at 32-36). The arrest team typically waits for word that the undercover buyer and their team have cleared the area, then moves in to find and arrest the suspected dealer (2/7/23 at 36).

On this occasion, Detective Raymond Hawkins acted as the undercover buyer (2/7/23 at 94-96). Hawkins testified that he approached a parked car with "several people around" it and asked the person in the driver's seat, "Hey who got some smoke" (2/8/23 at 15-17). According to Hawkins, the person replied, "You talking about crack?" (2/8/23 at 17). Hawkins testified that he affirmed, then got into the car, gave the person a pre-recorded \$20 bill, and received a loose piece of white, rock-like substance in exchange (2/8/23 at 17-21, 59-60). Hawkins said he then returned to the unmarked car where his partner was waiting, radioed to the arrest team that he had completed the buy, and drove away (2/8/23 at 23-24). He gave the arrest team a description of the car in which he made the buy, but no description of the dealer's appearance (2/8/23 at 73-74).

Detective Tran testified that he and three other arrest team members were waiting in an unmarked police car parked half a block away, out of sight and out of view of the Valero parking lot, when they received radio confirmation that "the buy was good" and they could move in to make an arrest (2/7/23 at 38-44). Upon pulling into the Valero parking lot, Tran said, he saw a vehicle matching the undercover team's lookout for "a Ford Freestyle" (2/7/23 at 45-46, 98-100). Tran

² MPD Investigator Ryan Bernier, testifying as a narcotics expert, told the jury that "Crack Cocaine" is a "rock like substance," "[a]lmost like chunks of soap or plastic," that "typically has a white or maybe just a yellowish t[i]nt to it" (2/8/23 at 125).

parked, approached on foot and opened the Ford driver's door to find Mr. Woods seated alone in the driver's seat, smoking a cigarette (2/7/23 at 48-50, 100). Tran testified that another arrest team member removed Mr. Woods and together they handcuffed Mr. Woods and held him near the rear of the vehicle so that Detective Hawkins could do a show-up identification (2/7/23 at 50-51, 100). Hawkins radioed back a "positive" identification of Mr. Woods as the person who had sold him the white rock (2/8/23 at 25). Tran then placed Mr. Woods under arrest (2/7/23 at 51-52), and other officers searched the vehicle, recovering a scale and a green substance, some packaged in individual white papers, which they suspected to be synthetic cannabinoid, from a cooler bag in the back seat (2/7/23 at 190-92). Officers also found a loaded firearm in the front center console (2/7/23 at 79-84).

Hawkins's identification of Mr. Woods as the dealer fell apart at trial.³ The jury accordingly acquitted Mr. Woods of all charges related to drug distribution

_

³ Hawkins admitted he was not wearing his prescription bifocals when he identified Mr. Woods from inside his car on the other side of West Virginia Avenue, NE—across the Valero gas pumps and parking lot, plus three lanes of street traffic (2/8/23 at 31-32, 77-80, 84, 92-94). He told the jury Mr. Woods was facing him "directly," "[n]ot at an angle" (2/8/23 at 81-82), but bodyworn camera footage from the arrest team showed Mr. Woods was facing away from West Virginia Avenue, NE when Hawkins made his "positive ID" from across that street (2/7/23 at 101-107; 2/8/23 at 82-86). Hawkins testified that Mr. Woods "looked the exact same way" the dealer had inside the Ford, where "the big thing" that stood out about him was his "short haircut" (2/8/23 at 67, 81-82), but bodyworn camera footage showed that during the showup, Mr. Woods was wearing a hat and a raised hood that obscured his hair (2/8/23 at 86-87). When faced with the prospect of being asked for an in-court identification at a pretrial hearing two days before his court testimony, Hawkins had asked the prosecutor to show him a photograph of Mr. Woods before the hearing got started (2/8/23 at 94-95). The physical evidence

and to the drugs, gun and ammunition found inside the car (R.106). Mr. Woods's possession and tampering convictions, and this appeal, stem from what happened next, when he was searched incident to arrest.

The Alleged Tampering

Tran testified that once he received Hawkins's identification over the radio, he told Mr. Woods he was under arrest and began to search him (2/7/23 at 51-52). Tran stated that he first found a clear plastic bag containing paper "twists with some green plant inside" in the pocket of Mr. Woods's hoodie (2/7/23 at 52, 55).⁴ Tran also recovered \$72 in cash from Mr. Woods's "front person" (2/7/23 at 55-56,

called Hawkins's unreliable identification even further into doubt. The prerecorded \$20 bill he used to buy the white rock was not on Mr. Woods's person or inside the Ford when the arrest team searched them at the scene (2/7/23 at 68, 174). Although police searched Mr. Woods's cell phone and took DNA swabs and a fingerprint from the firearm (2/7/23 at 126-131), the government introduced no text messages or cell phone photos linking Mr. Woods to drug dealing, nor any DNA or fingerprints linking him to the firearm. To the contrary, defense fingerprint expert Dr. Heidi Eldridge testified that she compared the latent print to exemplars taken from Mr. Woods and concluded that it could not have been made by him (2/9/23 at 23-26).

All of this was consistent with the defense theory that Mr. Woods was not the dealer Hawkins had encountered, but another customer who just happened to be taking a moment to charge his cell phone and smoke a cigarette in the car after the dealer stepped away (2/9/23 at 106).

⁴ The trial court entered a judgment of acquittal on the charge of PWID-synthetic cannabinoid for these packets, finding that the government had not presented sufficient evidence that Mr. Woods believed the packets contained synthetic cannabinoid, as opposed to real marijuana, or that he intended to distribute them for remuneration (2/8/23 at 185-86). *See* D.C. Code § 48-904.01(a)(1) (legalizing possession of up to two ounces of marijuana and transfer of up to one ounce of marijuana without remuneration).

67-68). While he was checking the front waistband of Mr. Woods's pants, Tran testified, he "saw a white product or object [that] came out from that location and fell to the ground" (2/7/23 at 72). Tran described the object as "a clear plastic bag and inside that was a white rock like substance" in "[m]ultiple pieces" (2/7/23 at 72). Tran testified that he "basically tried to reach for it, at which point [Mr. Woods] stepped on it. Myself and a few other [o]fficers removed [Mr. Woods] away from the object, at which point I recovered it" (2/7/23 at 72). Specifically, Tran testified, "[w]e recovered the clear plastic bag containing the multiple small pieces of white rock like substance" (2/7/23 at 75).

The incident was captured by Officer James Love's bodyworn camera (2/7/23 at 72-74, 78). ⁵ The video shows a blurry white object fall out of Mr. Woods's waistband and exit the frame toward the ground. Mr. Woods takes a step forward as Detective Tran bends toward the ground, then police wrestle Mr. Woods backward. His feet are not visible in the frame. ⁶ After reviewing this footage, Tran testified that Mr. Woods "stomped on" the object before Tran "pushed [him] off by grabbing his leg away from the product" "[b]ecause his foot was actually on the product" (2/7/23 at 74-75).

Detective Love also testified about the incident. He said he watched as "Mr. Wood's waistband was pulled forward and a clear plastic bag with a white rock

⁵ Love had attained the rank of Detective by the time of trial (2/7/23 at 144).

⁶ A copy of the footage, introduced at trial as Government's Exhibit 19 (2/7/23 at 74), is included in the Appendix at Tab A. The relevant portion begins at timestamp 00:29:28. Undersigned counsel will move to supplement the record on appeal with this exhibit.

substance fell to the ground" (2/7/23 at 159). "When it hit the ground," Love continued, "Mr. Woods took his right leg and kind of moved it forward. Put it on the ground either on top of or near the clear plastic and then dragged his foot back" (2/7/23 at 159). After watching his bodyworn camera footage, Love characterized it as showing "Officers Tran and Banks kind of try to remove or pull the waistband out of [Mr.] Woods and then a clear plastic with the white rock falls to the ground and Mr. Woods is taken back and then I pick it up off the ground" (2/7/23 at 160). Love added that it "looks like to me [Mr. Woods] tries to step on it and kind of smear it or scrap [sic] it on the ground" (2/7/23 at 160-61). Love did not recall Mr. Woods appearing unsteady on his feet before that moment (2/7/23 at 161).

Love testified that it was he who recovered "the clear plastic containing the white rock" from the ground, then processed it back at the station (2/7/23 at 163-65), where he found that it weighed 1.2 grams (2/7/23 at 165). A photograph of an evidence bag containing the recovered plastic baggie with its white contents still inside was admitted into evidence as Government's Exhibit 8 (2/7/23 at 75-76, 163-64).⁷

Neither Love, Tran, nor any other witness testified that the plastic bag appeared changed in any way after Mr. Woods stepped on it. Nor did any witness testify that any of the white substance the baggie contained was spilled, crushed, or otherwise changed in any way when Mr. Woods stepped on it.

⁷ Undersigned counsel will move to supplement the record on appeal with the photograph, a copy of which is included in the Appendix at Tab B.

After the close of evidence, the trial court instructed jurors to convict Mr. Woods of tampering with physical evidence if they found beyond a reasonable doubt that he "knew that a trial was likely to be instituted," that he "altered an object," and that he "intended to alter that object to reduce its value as evidence or its availability for use as evidence at the trial" (2/9/23 at 78). The prosecutor argued in closing that Mr. Woods knew or had reason to know a trial was likely to be instituted because he was under arrest, that he "altered an object" "by reaching out with his right foot, stepping on the suspected narcotics and pulling back," and that taking that step was a voluntary reaction to the baggie falling from his waistband that reflected an intent "to alter the object to reduce its value as evidence" (2/9/23 at 95-96). The prosecutor did not explain how this stepping action altered the baggie or its contents. Nevertheless, the jury returned a conviction on the felony tampering charge, in addition to attempted simple possession of cocaine (R.106).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 22-723(a) of D.C. Code provides:

A person commits the offense of tampering with physical evidence if, knowing or having reason to believe an official proceeding has begun or knowing that an official proceeding is likely to be instituted, that person alters, destroys, mutilates, conceals, or removes a record, document, or other object, with intent to impair its integrity or its availability for use in the official proceeding.

Here, even assuming the evidence was sufficient to show that Mr. Woods stepped on the baggie of suspected cocaine with the intent to reduce its integrity or availability as evidence at an anticipated trial, the prosecution failed to present any

evidence that he completed the *actus reus* of "alter[ing]" the baggie or its contents. Even if jurors could permissibly have speculated that some of the white substance was crushed inside the bag—and they could not—such a superficial change is not an "alter[ation]" within the meaning of the tampering statute because it has no conceivable impact on the object's evidentiary value or availability. In fact, there was no testimony or other evidence from which to infer that the baggie or the white rock-like substance it contained were changed or "altered" under any definition of that term. Because the government failed to present sufficient evidence of an essential element of the offense, Mr. Woods's tampering conviction must be vacated.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

In addition to proof that a defendant knew or had reason to believe an official proceeding was in the offing and intended to diminish an object's evidentiary value for that proceeding, the felony tampering statute requires proof that the defendant committed one of five acts: "alter[ed], destroy[ed], mutilate[d], conceal[ed], or remove[d]" the object in question. D.C. Code § 22-723. Here, the government argued and the jury was instructed on only one of these *actus rei*: "alter[ed]" (2/9/23 at 78, 95-96). Mr. Woods's conviction therefore cannot stand if the prosecution failed to present sufficient evidence that he altered the baggie of white substance within the meaning of the tampering statute.

Here, the evidence was insufficient to prove Mr. Woods "altered" the baggie or the white substance it contained because it showed nothing more than that Mr.

Woods stepped or stomped on them. This is insufficient, first, because a review of the full text and legislative history of Section 22-723 establishes that in order to constitute "altering" physical evidence, the charged act must have diminished the object's evidentiary value. Any change that Mr. Woods's stomping could conceivably have wrought on the baggie or its contents had no diminishing effect on their evidentiary value. The prosecution's evidence was also insufficient because it failed to show that the baggie or its contents were changed in *any* way by Mr. Woods's stomping action, under even the broadest interpretation of the term "alter." As such, this Court need not even engage in the statutory construction exercise to conclude that the government failed to present sufficient evidence of the essential element of "altering" physical evidence. Under either interpretation of the term, Mr. Woods's felony tampering conviction must be vacated.

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE TAMPERING BECAUSE IT SHOWED ONLY THAT MR. WOODS STOMPED ON THE BAGGIE OF WHITE SUBSTANCE BUT NOT THAT HE CHANGED THE SUBSTANCE IN ANY WAY.

"In assessing a claim of evidentiary insufficiency, [this Court] must view the record in the light most favorable to the government, giving full play to the right of the fact finder to determine credibility, weigh the evidence, and draw justifiable inferences of fact." *Alfaro v. United States*, 859 A.2d 149, 160 (D.C. 2004) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). This Court's review is not "toothless," however. *Rivas v. United States*, 783 A.3d 125, 134 (D.C. 2001) (en banc). It must "take seriously" its obligation to ensure the government is held to its

burden to prove each element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id*.

That exacting standard "requires the factfinder 'to reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused." Id. at 133 (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)). The prosecution's evidence is insufficient to clear that high bar if, despite its relevance, the evidence requires the factfinder "to cross the bounds of permissible inference and enter the forbidden territory of conjecture and speculation" in order to convict. *Id.* at 134 (quoting *Curry v. United States*, 520) A.2d 255, 263 (D.C. 1987)). In this case, the record is not sufficient to permit the factfinder to reach the necessary state of near certitude, without speculation, that Mr. Woods altered the plastic baggie or its contents in any way by stepping on them. The prosecution did not present any direct testimony, or evidence from which it was possible to infer, that the baggie or substance it contained was changed when Mr. Woods stepped on it. To the contrary, both officers who testified about its discovery and recovery from the ground described it with the same terms both before and after Mr. Woods stepped on it. Detective Tran testified that he found a baggie in Mr. Woods's waistband containing "[m]ultiple pieces" of a "white rock like substance" (2/7/23 at 72), and likewise described the baggie he recovered from the ground after Mr. Woods stepped on it as "containing the multiple small pieces of white rock like substance" (2/7/23 at 75). Detective Love, too, did not vary his description: He testified that he watched "a clear plastic bag with a white rock substance" or "a clear plastic with the white rock" fall from Mr. Woods's waistband (2/7/23 at 159, 160) and that he recovered "the clear plastic

containing the white rock" from the ground after the allegedly felonious step (2/7/23 at 161, 162, 165).

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