BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-331

Clerk of the Court Received 04/09/2024 01:41 PM Filed 04/09/2024 01:41 PM

GREGORY PHILLIP WOOD,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO RICHARD KELLEY KATHARINE YASKE

- * KEVIN BIRNEY, D.C. Bar # 1029424 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Kevin.Birney@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2019-CF2-15427

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Sufficient evidence supported Wood's conviction for tampering with physical evidence. Wood's conduct fell within the meaning of "alters" in

⁴ The defense put on a short case that consisted of testimony from a defense investigator and a forensics professor (2/8/23 Tr. 194; 2/9/23 Tr. 8). Neither witness provided testimony relevant to the issues on appeal.

the tampering statute, D.C. Code 22-723(a). Contrary to Wood's claims, the statute does not require that the object be "significantly" altered or that its evidentiary value be diminished. The statute requires only that the defendant "alter[]" the object. The ordinary meaning of "alters" is "makes different," no more. This Court's broad reading of "tamper" and "alter" in *In re R.F.H.*, 354 A.2d 844 (D.C. 1976), supports reading "alters" in D.C. Code § 22-723(a) according to its plain meaning. Wood fails to justify adding words to the statute.

Based on the ordinary meaning of "alters," there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find that Wood altered physical evidence. A reasonable juror could infer that Wood's actions of stomping on the plastic bag and scraping it across the ground altered the bag.

Even if there was insufficient evidence of actual tampering, there was sufficient evidence to support Wood's conviction for the lesser-included offense of attempted tampering.

ARGUMENT

There Was Sufficient Evidence to Support's Wood's Conviction for Tampering with Physical Evidence.

Wood does not challenge his conviction for attempted unlawful possession of a controlled substance. He does challenge, however, his conviction for tampering with physical evidence on the ground that it was not supported by sufficient evidence. Wood's insufficiency claim is without merit.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

"When reviewing an insufficiency-of-the-evidence claim, [this Court] view[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, drawing all reasonable inferences in the government's favor, and giving deference to the jury's right to determine credibility and weight." *Dorsey v. United States*, 154 A.3d 106, 112 (D.C. 2017). The evidence will be deemed "sufficient if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bassil v. United States*, 147 A.3d 303, 307 (D.C. 2016) (citation omitted) (cleaned up). Furthermore, "the evidence need not negate every possible

inference of innocence." Young v. United States, 305 A.3d 402, 415 (D.C. 2023) (quoting Walker v. United States, 167 A.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. 2017)). Therefore, "[a]n appellant making a claim of evidentiary insufficiency bears the heavy burden of showing that the prosecution offered no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Dorsey, 154 A.3d at 112. "It is the factfinder's prerogative to determine credibility and to make reasonable inferences from the facts which have been proven." Smith v. United States, 809 A.2d 1216, 1222 (D.C. 2002). "In considering the sufficiency of the evidence, [this Court] make[s] no distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence, and circumstantial evidence is not intrinsically inferior to direct evidence." Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

The tampering statute under which Wood was convicted provides:

A person commits the offense of tampering with physical evidence if, knowing or having reason to believe an official proceeding has begun or knowing that an official proceeding is likely to be instituted, that person alters, destroys, mutilates, conceals, or removes a record, document, or other object, with intent to impair its integrity or its availability for use in the official proceeding.

D.C. Code § 22-723(a).

The offense of tampering with physical evidence thus requires that the defendant (1) knew or had reason to believe that an official proceeding had begun or was likely to be instituted; (2) altered, destroyed, mutilated, concealed, or removed a record, document, or other object; and (3) intended to impair the object's integrity or its availability for use in the official proceeding. *Id*.

This Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo.

Peterson v. United States, 997 A.2d 682, 683 (D.C. 2010). The "primary"

⁵ Because Wood did not raise in the trial court his argument that the statute does not reach conduct that does not significantly alter an object or diminish its evidentiary value, arguably this Court should review that statutory claim for plain error. See, e.g., Mitchell v. United States, 741 A.2d 1049, 1052 (D.C. 1999) (reviewing for plain error a claim, which was not made in the trial court, that the conviction was "based on conduct which the statute does not make a crime and which the regulation relied upon . . . cannot make a crime"). More recent decisions of this Court, however, have declined to apply plain-error review under similar circumstances. See, e.g., Campbell v. United States, 163 A.3d 790, 793-94 (D.C. 2017) (reviewing de novo a claim that conduct did not fall within the relevant statute even though the defendant did not make the argument below because the defendant had preserved sufficiency challenges); (Ronald) Wynn v. United States, 80 A.3d 211, 216 (D.C. 2013) (declining to apply plain-error review because "the circumstances here call for us to engage in de novo review in order to avoid affirming a conviction for conduct that was not a crime"); (Cotey) Wynn v. United States, 48 A.3d 181, 187-88 (D.C. 2012) (reviewing a statutory construction claim de novo where the defendants had preserved sufficiency challenges and "[a]t bottom, [this Court was] called upon to (continued . . .)

rule of statutory interpretation "is that the intent of the lawmaker is to be found in the language that [they] ha[ve] used." Peoples Drug Stores, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 470 A.2d 751, 753 (D.C. 1983) (en banc). Furthermore, "[i]t is a 'fundamental canon of statutory construction' that, 'unless otherwise defined, words will be interpreted as taking their ordinary, contemporary, common meaning." Sandifer v. United States Steel Corp., 571 U.S. 220, 228 (2014) (quoting Perrin v. United States, 444 U.S. 37, 42 (1979)); accord Peoples Drug, 470 A.2d at 753 ("[I]n examining the statutory language, it is axiomatic that the words of the statute should be construed according to their ordinary sense and with the meaning commonly attributed to them."). "Generally speaking, if the plain meaning of statutory language is clear and unambiguous and will not produce an absurd result, [this Court] will look no further." Hood v.

determine the reach of the statute which prohibits [the conduct at issue]"); cf. Kornegay v. United States, 236 A.3d 414, 418 & n.7 (D.C. 2020) (reviewing a statutory argument not made in the trial court de novo because "it is well settled in this jurisdiction that a full range of challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence are automatically preserved at a bench trial by a defendant's plea of not guilty . . . [including] challenges to the requisite elements of the crime") (quoting Carrell v. United States, 165 A.3d 314, 326 (D.C. 2017) (en banc)). Even under de novo review, however, Wood's claims fail for the reasons discussed infra.

United States, 28 A.3d 553, 559 (D.C. 2011) (internal quotation marks omitted); accord, e.g., Larracuente v. United States, 211 A.3d 1140, 1143 (D.C. 2019); Eaglin v. District of Columbia, 123 A.3d 953, 955-56 (D.C. 2015). If the statute's words are ambiguous, on the other hand, then this Court may turn to the statute's legislative history to determine its meaning. See Hood, 28 A.3d at 559.

B. Discussion

There was sufficient evidence to support Wood's conviction for tampering with physical evidence. Wood does not contest that the evidence was sufficient as to the first and third elements of tampering—that he knew or had reason to believe that an official proceeding had begun or was likely to be instituted, and that he intended to impair the object's integrity or its availability for use in the official proceeding. He challenges only the proof on the second element—that he altered, destroyed, mutilated, concealed, or removed a record, document, or other object. The government proceeded on the "alters" option of the statute (see 2/9/23 Tr. 96), and the jury was instructed accordingly (id. at 78). The issue on appeal, therefore, is whether there was sufficient evidence that Wood "altered" an object. A jury reasonably could find there was

such evidence. For purposes of the tampering statute, "alters" means only "makes different" and does not require, as Wood argues, a "significant" change or a diminishment in the object's evidentiary value. A reasonable juror could find that by stomping on the plastic bag of suspected drugs and scraping it across the ground, Wood "altered" physical evidence.

1. "Alters" Means No More Than "Makes Different."

Wood argues (at 9-11, 14-22) that his conduct did not fall within the tampering statute because he did not "alter" the bag of suspected drugs. Specifically, Wood argues (at 15-16) that the term "alters" means "a significant change, one capable of diminishing the object's evidentiary value at an anticipated proceeding." This argument ignores the ordinary meaning of the term "alters," which also accords with how this Court has interpreted the term "tampering" generally and the word "alters" specifically. Wood's attempt to add language to the statute should be rejected.

The plain meaning of "alters" is straight-forward. To "alter" means "to make different without changing into something else." Alter Definition, *Merriam-Webster.com* (last accessed Apr. 8, 2024); see also

Alter Definition, The American Heritage Dictionary 99 (2d ed. 1982) ("[t]o change or make different; modify"); Alter Definition, Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language 63 (Unabridged 1966) ("to cause to become different in some particular characteristic . . . without changing into something else"). Because the plain meaning of "alters" is unambiguous and does not produce absurd results, that meaning should control. See Hood, 28 A.3d at 559; Larracuente, 211 A.3d at 1143; Eaglin, 123 A.3d at 955-56.

Interpreting "alters" in the tampering statute in accordance with the ordinary meaning of that word is consistent with how this Court has treated tampering liability. In *In re R.F.H.*, 354 A.2d 844 (D.C. 1976), this Court considered a challenge to a police regulation that made it unlawful to "tamper with or move a parked vehicle[.]" *Id.* at 845 & n.1. It noted that Black's Law Dictionary defined "tamper" as "to meddle so as to alter a thing, especially to make corrupting or perverting changes . . . to interfere improperly" *Id.* at 847 (quoting *Black's Law Dictionary* 1627 (4th ed. 1968) (alteration omitted)). Webster's Dictionary similarly defined "tamper" as "to alter for an improper purpose or in an improper way." *Id.* (quoting *Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the*

English Language 2336 (Unabridged 1969)). And the American Heritage Dictionary listed several meaning of "tamper," including: "1. To interfere in a harmful manner. . . . 3. To bring about an improper situation or condition by clandestine means. . . . 4. To alter improperly" Id. (quoting The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 1314 (1969)).

Based on these definitions, the Court found that the word "tamper" "connotes wrongful or harmful interference" with the object in question. In re R.F.H., 354 A.2d at 847. In the context of the tampering regulation in In re R.F.H., these definitions meant that it was illegal "to open or alter a vehicle or any of its contents with an unlawful purpose, or to attempt to do the same." Id. (quotation marks omitted). As an example, this Court noted that an individual who attempted to pick the lock of a car would have tampered with it within the meaning of the regulation, even if he failed to actually pick the lock, because, had he succeeded, the car would have changed from a locked to an unlocked condition, "thereby constituting a physical alteration." Id.

In re R.F.H. is significant for two reasons. First, it underscores the breadth of the common meaning of "tampering." As Wood notes (at 16),

what the statute at issue defines is "tampering with physical evidence." D.C. Code § 22-723(a). In re R.F.H. indicates that "tampering" should not be read narrowly, as Wood argues. Second, In re R.F.H. shows that "alters" does not mean anything more than the ordinary meaning of that word. The Court's equation of unlocking a car to the "physical alteration" required for tampering, see 354 A.2d at 847, illustrates that "alter" in the context of tampering includes even minor physical changes.

Wood errs (at 11, 14-16, 18-19, 21-22) when he argues that in order to commit a crime under D.C. Code § 22-723(a), a defendant must "significantly" change or diminish the evidentiary value of the record, document, or other object in question. The tampering statute nowhere uses the word "significant," nor does it require that the object's evidentiary value in fact be diminished. It simply uses the word "alters" and requires an "intent" to impair the object's integrity or availability for use in the official proceeding. D.C. Code § 22-723(a). Wood is attempting to add language to the tampering statute, despite the general rule that courts do not "usually read into statutes words that aren't there." *Rossil Fasteners, Inc. v. Fossil, Inc.*, 140 S. Ct. 1492, 1495 (2020). Furthermore, Wood's interpretation of the statute runs contrary to the plain meaning

of "alters," which does not include any of the restrictions he proposes. Given the Court's obligation to construe the statute according to the ordinary meaning of the words the legislature chose, *e.g.*, *Sandifer*, 571 U.S. at 228, Wood's attempt to bypass the plain meaning of "alters" should be rejected.

Wood's arguments for rewriting the statutory language are without merit. He relies (at 16) on the fact that the offense is called "tampering" with evidence, and he argues that "tampering" necessarily means reducing the object's value. As we have discussed, *In re R.F.H.* and the definitions on which the Court relied make it clear that a defendant need not succeed in significantly changing the object—or in somehow diminishing its evidentiary value—in order to "tamper" with it. Rather, a defendant must simply "meddle so as to alter a thing," "alter for an improper purpose," or "interfere in a harmful manner." *In re R.F.H.*, 354 A.2d at 847 (citing various dictionary definitions of "tamper").

Contrary to Wood's claim (at 16), the mens rea element of § 22-723(a) does not indicate a requirement that the alteration actually diminish the object's evidentiary value. The actus reus and the mens rea of tampering are two different elements. The defendant must alter an

object with the intent to diminish its evidentiary value, but there is no requirement that the defendant succeed in that effort.

The other verbs in the tampering statute do not justify ignoring the plain meaning of "alters," as Wood asserts (at 16). Wood argues that "alters" must be read consistently with "destroys," "mutilates," "conceals," or "removes," which all either "significantly change the object ('destroys,' 'mutilates') or otherwise render is unusable as evidence ('conceals,' 'removes')." This argument overstates the impact of the other verbs. One can "conceal" an object without necessarily rendering it unusable as evidence. The concealment can be temporary, for example, or not very effective. Similarly, one can take a document from a file and place it in a new location: the person has "removed" the document, but the document, although now in a different place, may still be usable as evidence.

Moreover, "alters" does work that the other verbs do not. Take, for example, adulteration of a photograph. The person has not destroyed, concealed, or removed the photograph, and the adulteration may not be so significant as to amount to mutilation. See Mutilate Definition, The American Heritage Dictionary 825 (2d ed. 1982) (defining "mutilate" as

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